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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

In re EATON VANCE MUTUAL FUNDS

FEE LITIGATION™ MASTER FILE: 04-cv-1144 (JGK)

)
)
| o )
- THIS DOCUMENT RELATES TO: ALL ACTIONS )
| i | )

CONSOLIDATED AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, by and through their counsel, allege the following based upon thé investigation
of counsel, which included inter?iews with persons with knowledge Qf the conduct compléined
of herein and areyiew of Unite'd States Securitiés and Exchaﬁge Commission (“SEC”) filings, as

“well as other regulatory filings, reports, ‘advisories, préss releases, and media reports. Plaintiffs
believe that éubstantial a;id\ditional evidentiary support will exist for the allegbz'a‘tions"set forth

herein after an opportunity for discovery.

INTRODUCTION

1. This is a federal class action based upon the failure of defendant Eaton Vance
Com. ("‘Eaton Vance”),ﬂ aﬁd those of its subsidiaries and affiliates also named herein as
deféndants, to disclose eﬁccessive fees and commis'sions‘ they siphonéd from Eaton Vance mutual
fund investors in order to improperly pay and induce brokers to steer investors into Eaton Vanqe
mi;tual funds. As aresult of theif material omissions and conduct detailed below; defendants are -
now_iiable under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the “Investment Advisers Act”); the
Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “Investment Company Act”); New York General -
Busihess Law §349; unjust enrichment; and, for breaches of their common law ﬁdiwiary duties
toa class (the “Class”) of all persons or ¢ntities who held one or more shares of Eaton Vance
| mutual funds, set forth in Exhibit A hereto (the “Eaton Vance Funds” or the “Funds”), duning the

period January 30, 1999 to November 17, 2003 (the “Class Period™).



2. In essence, defendants rﬁéde undisclosed payments to Brokers to inquce them to
direct investors into Eaton Vvance Fund‘é. Then, once invested in one or more_ of the Eaton Vance
Funds, the investors in Eaton Vancé Funds were charged and paid undisclosed fees to the |
defendants that weré improper]y used by the defendants to pay brokers to push Eatbn Vance
Funds on yet more investors in ordef to increase the level of invéstments in Eatoﬁ Vance Funds.

3. Defendants’ -practice of .pﬁarging excessive fees and cotnmissiqns to Eaton Vance
Funds investors to pay and induce brokers to steer investors into the Eaton Vance Fuﬁds |
necessarily created insurmountable conflicts of interest for the brokers Who were purportedly
acting in the best interests of their client% — but in‘fact were only concerned with their payfoffs
from Eaton Vance.

4. The practice of charging excessive vfees and commissions. g]so created an
insUnnountabl¢ conflict of intefest for the investment advisers to the Eaton Vanc,e Funds who
hgd a duty to act in thé best iﬁterests of fund inveslors, but were, in fact, only concerned with
siphoﬁing fees from the funds io induce brokers to artificially increase the number of Eaton
VYance Fund invcsn.‘nents. Eatoh Vance was motivated to engage in this undisclosed pl‘an of

' charging excessive fees to induce brokers to steer investors into Eaton Vance Funds bvécause the
fees it collected for managing and advising the Eaton Vance Funds were célcu]ated asa
percentage of assets undef management, and, therefore, tended to increase as the number of
Eaton Vance Funds investors grew.

5. Defendants purposefully omitted disclosing any of thc improper excessive fees
and comrﬁissions passed oﬁ to plaintiffs and other members of the Class. The defendants
concealed such fees used to iﬁduce brokers to push Eaton Vance Funds as they realized that the

inducements created an insurmountable conflict of interest significant to any reasonable person



decidiﬁg how to invést his of Bef money. As sufnmed up by William Gélvin, the Secretary of the
COmmonwealth of Massachusetts, who is currentl.y investigating the conflicts of interest created
by Eaton Vance’s' yh:ongﬁx] conduct: |
While few would be suipn'sed to learn that a used car salesman
would put you in a lemon for an extra two hundred buck
commission, how many people know their broker might be doing
the same thing? You would think that investors have a right to
know this goes on. We sure do.
, h(tp://www.sta_té. ma. zls/sec/sct/sctpdf/mspfO 71403.pdf.
6.  As describéd by Sen. Peter Fitzgerald (R-1il.) in a Janusry 28, 2004 Los Angeles
Times article about a Senate cofﬂrriittee hearing on mutual fuﬁ'ds, the mutual fund industry “is
indeed the world’s largest skimming operation,” tantamount to “a $7'-tri1]ion‘ trough exploited by -
._fund rﬁanagers, brokers éﬁd other insiders.” |
7. The truth about Eaton VanCé ﬁna]]f emerged on November 17, 2003, wheh the
- SEC and the National Association of Securities Dealers (“NASD”) ﬁned and sanctioned the
bbrvokerage house Morésn Stanley DW, Inc. (“Morgan Stanley”) for, among other wrongdoing,
accepting defendants’ impermissible payments in exchange for aggrsssively pushing Eatoﬁ
Vance Funds over other funds. The SEC stated that “this rhafter arises from Morgan Stanley
DW’s failure to disclose adequately certain material facts to its customer. . .[nameiy th.at] ‘it
collected from a select group of mutuai fund complexes amounts in excess of siaﬁdard sales
loads and Rule 12b-1 trail payments.” http://www.sec. gov/litigation/admin/33-8339.htm.
g. 'Likewise, in the NASD news release announcing the action it had taken against
' Morgan Stanley regarding, among other wrongdoing, the improper payments Morgan Stanley

had received from Eaton Vance, the NASD stated the following:

(t]his extra compensation paid to Morgan Stanley for the
preferential treatment included millions of dollars paid by the



mutual funds through commissicns charged by the firm for trades
it executed for the funds.. These commissions were sufficiently
large to pay for the special treatment, as well as the costs of trade
execution. This conduct violates NASD’s Anti-Reciprocal Rule,
Conduct Rule 2830(k), which prohibits members from favoring the -
distribution of shares of particular mutual funds on the basis of

- brokerage commissions to be paid by the mutual fund companies.

http://'www.nasdr.com/news/pr2003/release_03_051.html.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. The claims ésserted herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 34(b), 36(b) and
48(a) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U:S.C. §§80a-33(b), 80a-35(a) and (b) and 80a;47(a), '
Sections 206 and 215 of the Investment Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §§80b-6 and 80b-15, CP.IT.R
§349 and the common law. | | |

10.  This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of fhis action pursuant to
Section 44 of the Investment Cémpaﬁy Act, 15U.S.C. §805-43; Séction 214 of the Investment ‘ B
Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. §80b-14; and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b). |

11.  Many of the acté charged herein, including the failure to disclose the excess‘i.ve

fees and commissions that defendants improperly siphoned from Eaton Vance Funds investors,

occurred in substantial part in this District. Defendants conducted other substantial business

within this District and mahy Class members reside within this District. Fof example, defendant
OrbiMed Advisors LLC (“OrbiMed”) was at all relevant times; and still is, headquartered in this
District. Additionally, the Eaton Vance ﬁortfolios in which the Eaton Vance Funds invest are
organized as trusts under the iaws of the state of New York.

.12; In connectioh with the acts alleged in this complaint, defendants, directly or
indirect]y, used the means and instrumenialities of inierstale commerce, including; but not -

limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of the national

securities markets.



PARTIES
Plaintiffs
13. Plaiq}_iff Stephen R. Alexander purchased and held during thé Claés Peﬁdd shares
or uﬁits of the Eaibn Vaﬁce_ Worldwide Health Sciences Fund é.nd has been damaged by the
conduct alleged heréin. | |
14, Plaintiff faul Bellikoff purchased and held during the Class Peﬁod, and coﬁtin;les-
to hold, shares or uni_ts of the Eaton Vance Information Age Fund and has been damaged_ by the
cénduct a]legéd herein. On or about November 4, 2003; the Eaton Vance Information Age Fund
cﬁanged its name to the Eaton Vance Global Growth Fund. |
15. Plaintiff Marvin Go]dfarB purchased and held during the Class Period, and
continues to ‘hold, share§ or units' of the‘ Eaton Vanc‘.e California Municipals Fﬁnd and has been
.damaged by the conduct alleged herein. | |
16. - Plaintiff Phyllis Ann Jaffee Revocable Trust:purchased and held during the Class
Period shares or units of the Eaton Vance Worldwide Hea]th Sciences Fund and has been
damaged by the conduqt alleged herein. |
| 17.  Plaintiff igor Lukashevich purchased aﬁd hé]_d’dun'ng the Class Period, and
. continues to hold, shares or units of the Eaton Vance Worldw‘ide Health Sciences Fund and has
bécn damaged by the conduct alleged herein. | |
18.  Plaintiff John B. Perkins purchased during the Class Period shares or units of the
Eaton Vance Wor]dv;'ide Health Sciences Fund and has been damaged by the conduct alleged
herein.

The Parent Companies

19.  Defendant Eaton Vance is the ultimate parent company of the investment adviser

defendants Eaton Vance Management and Boston Management and Research, identified below,



defendants Eaton Vance, Inc. and Eatonj Vanqe Distn’buiors, Inc. as well as the Eaton Vance
Funds. Eaton Vance also owns a signiﬁ‘cam' in_térest in defendant Lloyd Géorge Management
(B.V.I.) Limited. At all relevant times, Eaton Vance was involved in creating, marketing and
managing ihvestmeﬁt funds and providing investment management Services to institutions and
individuals. As of October 31, 2003,.Eaton Vance managed $75 billiqn in assets. Elaton Vance
conducts its investment management business through its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Eaton
Vance Management.énd B;)ston Managemeﬁt and Research. In its annual report on Forr‘nv 10-'K
filed with the SEC on J anuary 21, 2004, 'Ef;lton Vance reported 2003 annﬁal investment adyisory |
and administration fee revenue of $296 million. The largest category of investment advisory
fees consisted of fees from mutual funds, which fees are based on the daily av'erage,net a.ssetslbf |
the funds. Eaton Vance reported annual fund fees of $237 million in 2003, $225 million in 2002,
$226 million in 2001 and $204 million in 2000. Eaton Van_céé is incorporated n Marylzi_nd and its |
principal executive offices are located at The Eaton Vance Building, 255 State Street, Boston,
Massachusetts 02109, | |

20.  Defendant Eaton V ance, Inc. (“E\/”) served as trustee of the Eaton Vanée Funds
investment advfsers Eaton Vance Maﬁagement and Boston Management and Reseal"ch., described -
below, and is a who]ly-owﬁed subsidiary of Eaton Vance. EV is a Massachﬁsetts corporation
located at 255 State Street, Boston‘,‘MassaChusétts 021089.

21.  Defendant Llo'yd George Management (B.V.1.) Limited (“LGML”) is the parent |
company of defend‘am L]ldyd George Management, defined below. During the Class Period,
Eaton Vance owned a signiﬂcant interesi in LGML. LGML is located at Suité 3808, One

Exchange Square, Central, Hong Kong.



" The Investment Ad'visers

22.  Defendant Eaton Véncc Managemeht (“EVM”), a wholly-ownéd subsidiary of
Eaton Vance, isvr‘egistered as an investment adviser under the Investment AdV_iSefs Acf and
fnanégcd and ad\;iséd‘th"e‘ Eaton Vance.Funds,'with the exceptions of the Eaton Vance Funds
 managed by co-defcﬁdants OrbiM.cd and Lloyd Gcorgc Management, identified below.
However, pursuant to aéreements with OrbiMed and Lloyd George Managém'ent, defendant
EVM, as investment _adviser to the Funds, provided overall investment management services to
eéch of the Master Funds; subjeét £o fhe supervision of each fund’s board of trustees. Defendant
EVM alsé served as édministrat'or-or manager to the funds (including‘those managed by Lloyd
George Management and OrbiMed) and was responsiblc for managing the business affairs of
these funds, subject to tﬁe‘ oversight of each fund’s board of trustees. EVM’s services included
‘recordkeeping, preparing and filing documents required to comply with federal and state |
_ segun’ties léWs and supervising the gctivities of the funds’ cqstodian and transfer agent. EVM
received fees calculated as a percentage of net assets under management and was a’beneﬁciary of -
the secret plan to push Eétoh Vance Funds. Defendant EVM 1s orgarﬁzed under Massachusetts
law and is located at the.Eaton Vance Building, 255 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109.
23.  Defendant Boston Management and Research (“BMR”), a wholly-owned
sﬁbsidiary of Eaton Vance, is. registered as an investment adviser under the Investment Aavisefs
Act ,énd managed and advised the Eaton Vance Fﬁnds, wiih the exception of the Eafon Vance
Funds managed by ﬁb-defendants brbiMed and Lloyd George Management, identified ‘below.
However, pursuant to agreerﬁents with OrbiMed and Lloyd George Management, defendant

BMR, as investment adviser to the Funds, provided overall investment management services to

each of the Master Fu_nds, subject to the supervision of each fund’s board of trustees. BMR



receiﬁed_fees calculated as a percentage H‘b‘f net assets under management and was a béneﬁ'qiary--df | |
the secfet plan to push Eaton Vance Fuﬁds. Deféndant BMR‘is organized under Massachusetts
law and is located at the Eaton Vanée Building, 255 State Street, Boston, Massacﬁusett_s 02106.
-24. . Duriﬁg thc Class Period, fhe Eaton Vance Funds utilized a two—tiered structure in
which funds'wibth substantially identical investment objectives (“Feeder Funds") p.oo.led their
assets by investing in a comﬁ]on portfolio ‘(the “Master Fund”).. Each Eaton Vgnce:Master Fund
(except funds managed by ‘I‘,loyd George Management or OrbiMed identified be]qw) ehtered into
an inVestment advisory agreement with defendants EVM or BMR.
25.  Defendant OrbiMed is an investmen‘t managemen;[ company affiliated with Eaton
Vance that made investment deéisions for certain of the Eaton Vaﬁcc Funds, ihcludihg the Eaton
- Vance Worldwide Health Sciences Fund. Defendant OrbiMed is registered as an investment
adviser under th¢ Investment Ad_viser;s Act. Defendant OrbiMed is loéated at 767 Third Avenue,
New York, New York 10017. |
26. Defendant Lloyd Gedrge Investment Management (Benhuda) Limited (“Lloyd.
George Managcmeni” or “LGM?”) is an investment management company affiliated with Eaton
Vance that made investment decisions for certain of the Eaton Vance Funds, inc]uding‘ the Eaton
Vance Asian Small Companies Fund; the Eaton Vance Emerging Markets Fund; the Eaton
Vance Greater China Growth Fund; and the Eaton Vance Greater India Fund. Defendant LGM
is registered‘as an investment adviser un‘dér‘the Investment Advisers Act and is located at Suite
3808, One Exchange Square, Central, Hong Kong. |
27. Defendants EVM, BMR, OrbiMed and LGM are referred to co]léctively herein as
“the “Investment Adviser Defendants.” Fees payable to the Investment Adviser Defendants are

calculated as a percentage of fund assets under management. The Investment Adviser



Defendants had ultimateresponéibility for overseeing the day‘-to-da_y management of the Eaton

Vance Funds.

The Directors, Officers and Trustees of the Eaton Vance Funds
28. Dun'ng the Class Period, defendant Jessica M. Bibliowicz (“Bibliowicz) was a

Director or Trustee charged with overseeing 193 Portfolios in the Fund complex which ihc]udes

both master and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure. Bibliowicz also serves as President

and CEO of National Financial Partners, an independent distributor of financial services.

Bibliowicz violated her fiduciary duties to the Funds and the Funds in'\)estors by knowingly and -

recklessly partiéipating in, approving, and/or allowing the conduct complained of herein. For her

service as a Director or Trustee, in 2003 Bibliowicz received compensation of$lv60,000.

29. During the Class Period, defendant James B. Hawkes (“Hawkes”) was a Director

or Trustee charged with overseeing 195 Portfolios in the Fund complex which includes both
“master and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure. In the past five years, Hawkes also

served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Eaton Vance, EVM, BMR .and

EV. Hawkes also served as Director of EV and Vice President and Director of EVD. Hawkes

violated his fiduciary duties o the Funds and the Funds investors by knoWing]y and recklessly

participating in, approving, and/or allowing the conduct complained of herein. In 2003, in his

capacity as CEO of Eaton Vance, Hawkes received compehsation in excess of $3.1 million.
30. During the Cl-ass Pen'od,‘defendam Samuel L. Hayes; I1I (“Hayes”), was a

- Director or Trustee charged with overseeing 195 Portfolios in the Fund .complex which includes

both master and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure. Hayes violated his fiduciary duties |

to the Funds and the Funds investors by knowingly and recklessly participating in, approving,



and/or allowing the conduct complaine&‘of herein. For his service as a Director or Tr‘ustee, it
2003 Hayes received compensation ‘of Sl 80,000. |

3L During the Class ‘Pe‘riod,\defendant William H. Park (“Park”) was a Director or
Trusteé charged with overseeing 192 Pc;rtfolios in the Fund complex which -incl-udes both master
and feeder funds in the master-feedef structure. Park violated his ﬁdﬁci_ary duties tb the Funds
and the Funds investors by i{nowing]y and recklessly participating i.n,'approvir_)g,- and/or allqwing
the conduct com'p]aiined ‘o‘f herein. For his service as a Director or Trustee, in 2003 Pérk received
compensation of $160,000.

32.  During the Class Period, defendant Ronald A. Pearlfnan ‘(‘“Pearlman”) was a
Director or Trustee charged with overseeing 192 Portfolios in the Fund complex which includés
Both master and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure. Pearlman viq]ate_d his fiduciary
duties to the Funds and the Funds investors by knowingly and reckleésly participating in,
approving, and/or _al]owing the condﬁct comblained of hereiﬁ. For his service as a Director or
Trustee, in 2003 Pearlman received.compensation of $160,000.

33. During the Class‘Pen'od, deféndant Norton H. Reamer (“Reamer”) was éDirector
or Trustee chafged with overseeing 195 Poﬁfqlios in the Fund comp]ex which inclgdés both
master and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure. Reamer violated hi§ ﬁduciafy duties to
the Funds and the Funds ihvestors by knowingly and recklessly participating in, approving,
and/or allowing the conduct complained §f herein. For his service as a Director or Trustee, in
2003 Reamer rcceivéd compensation of $170,000.

| , 34, During the C]ass Period, defendant Lynn A. Stout (“Stout”) was ‘a Director or
Trqstee chargéd with overseeing 195 Portfolios in the Fund complex which includes both master

and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure. Stout violated her fiduciary duties to the Funds

10



and tﬁe Funds investors ‘by kﬁ‘o{x/ingly and recklessly paﬁiqipating in, abproving, and/or allowing
the conduct complaihed of herein. For her service as a Director or Trustee, in 2003 Stout
received compensation of $160,000.

35. During the Class Period, def‘éndant Donald R,‘Dwight (“Dwight”) was a Directox"‘
or Trustee charged with ‘overseeing 190 Portfolios in ihe Eaton Vance Fund complex which | |
includes both master and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure. Dwi ght violated his |
ﬁduciafy dutiéé to the Funds and the Funds investors by knowingly and recklessly allowing the
céndxlct complained of herein. For his service as a Director or Trustge, in 2002 Dwight received.
compensation of $162,500.

36.  Durning the C}ass Period, defendant J ack L. Treynor (“Treyndr”) was a Director or
* Trustee charged with ovéfs‘eeing 171 Portfolios in the Eaton VanceFund complex’ which |
includes both master and feeder funds in the ma‘stér-feeder étmcture. Treynor violated hi.s
fiduciary duties to the Funds and the Funds ixwestors by‘kn‘owing]y a‘nd» recklessly allowing the
cbnduct complained of ‘h_erein. For his service as a Director or Trustee, in 2002 Tréynor received
compensation of$l’70,QOO. |

37. - During the Class Period, defendant Thomaé E. Faust, Jr. (“Faust™) was the
President or Vice-President of Eaton Vance Mutual Funds Trust, Eaton Vance Special
‘Investmem Trust, Eéton. Vance Investfnent Trust énd Eaton Vance Growth Trust, and thus
- responsible for over;eeing dozens of Portfolios in the Eaion Vance Fund complex which
inclpdes both master and fegder funds in the master-feeder structure. Faust violated his fiduciary
duties to the Funds and the Funds investors By knowingly and recklessly allowing the conduct

complained of herein.
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38. During the Classteriod,f'(.iefen_daﬁt Thomas J. Fetter (“fetter”) was .the President | |
of Eaton Vance Municipals Trust and Eatoﬁ Vahce Municipals Trust II, and t_ﬁe Vice-President
of Eaton Vance Mutual Funds Tmét, and thus responsible for overseeing dozens 6f Portfolios m
the Eaton Vahce Fuhd complex which iﬁcludes both master and feeder funds in -thé master-feeder'
structure. During the Class Period, Fetter was also the Portfolio Mange_r of the Eaton Vance
South Carolina Municipals Fund, the Eaton Vance Ohio Municipals Fund and the Eatpn Vance
New York Munibipals F uﬁd. Fetter violated his fiduciary duties to the Funds and the Funds |
investors by knowingly and reck]esély ailowing the conduct‘ complained of herein.

39.  During the Class Period, defendant Michael R. Mach (“Mach”) was Vice- A
President of the Eaton Vance Mutual Funds Trust aﬁd the Eaton Vance Large'-Cap Valué
Portfolio. During the Class Period, Mach also acted aé the Portfolio Manéger of the Eaton Vance
Tax-Managed Dividend Income Fund, the Eaton Vance Tax-Manéged Value Ponfolio and the
Eaton Vance Large-Cap Value Portfo.]io.‘ During the Class Period, Ma’cﬁ acted as Vice-President
of EVM and BMR and was an Ofﬁcér of 24 registered investmentvcompanies managed by_EVM
or BMR. Mach violated his ﬁdﬁcigry duties to the Funds and the Funds investors by kh_owingly
and recklessly allo§ving the conduct complained of herein.

40. During the Class Period, defendant Judith A. Saryan (“Saryah”) wasAVice-‘
| President of the Eaton Vance Mutual Funds Trust and the Eaton Vance Utilities Portfolio. -
During the Class Period, Saryan also acted as Portfolio Manager of the Eaton Vance Tax-
Managed Dividend‘ I‘nco'mé Fund and the Eaton Vance Utilities Portfolio. During the Class
Period, Safyan acted as Vicé-Presidem of EVM and BMR and was officer of 23.-registered

investment companies managed by EVM or BMR. S‘aryan violated her fiduciary duties to the

12



Funds and the Funds inv“estors oy knoWingly ard recklessly allowing the conduct complained of
‘Therein. . | |
41. Durigg the ClasorPeriod, defendant Cynthia A. Clemson (“C]emson”) was Vice-
f’reéident of the éaton Vancé'Arizona Municipals Portfolio, the Eaton Vance California Limited
* Maturity Munici_p,a]s Fund, the Eaton Vance Califomfa Municipals‘ Portfolio, the Eaton Vance
Flonda Insured Municio;als Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Florida Limited Maiurity Municipais
Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Flon’da Municipals Fund, the Eaton Vance Georgia Muhicipa]s
Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Mississippi Munbicipals Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Missouri
Municipals Portfolio, the Eaton Vance 'Pennsyl\‘ran‘ia Limited Matun’ty Municipals Portfolio, the
" Eaton Vance Pennsylvania Mﬁnicipals Portfolio and the Eaton Vance Tennessee Municipals |
" Portfolio. During the C]"aSs Period, Clemson also aoted as the Portfolio Manager of all such
VPonfolios. During the Class Period, Clemson acted as Vice;Prcsident of EVM and BMR and
was an ofﬁcér of 20 registered investment compénies managed by EVM or BMR. Clemson
violated her fiduciary 'd‘iities‘ to the Funds and the Funds investors by knowingly and recklessly
allowing the conduct conop]aincd- of herein. | | |
| 42, During tﬁe Class Period, defendant Robert B. Maclntosh (“MacIntosh”) was
~ Vice-President of the Eaton Vance Mutual F.unds Trust, the Eaton Vance Municipals Trust, the
ﬁaton Vance Investnﬂ'ent‘.T mét and the Eaton Vance Municipals Trust II. During the Claos |
: .Pen'od, Maclntosh was the Portfolio Manager of the Eaton Vance Hawaii Municipals Fund, the -
Eaton Vance Louisiaﬁa Muoicipals Fund, the Eaton Vance Massachusetts Municipals Fund, the
Eaton Vance Minnesota Muoicipals Fund, the Eaton Vance New Jersey Municipals Fund, the
Eaton Vance North Carolina Municipals Fund, the Eaton Vance Rhode Islano Municipals Fund,

the Eaton Vance Virginia Municipals Fund and the Eaton Vance West Virginia Municipals Fund.
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Ddri’ng the Class Period, MacIntosh actdé.d as Vice-President of EVM and BMR and was an
ofﬁcer. of 127 registered invéstment cox‘:npahi‘es managed by EVM or BMR. Maclntosh violated
his ﬁduciary duties to the Funds ‘and the Funds investors by knowingly and reckléssly allowing
the coﬁduct comp]afned of hereih.

| 43.. During theiIClass Peribd, defendant Duncan W. Ri'chards_on (“chhardson”) was
Vice-President of the Eatori‘Vance Mutual Funds Trust and the Eaton Vance Variable Trust.
During the Class Peﬁod,_Richardson also acted as Portfolio Manager of the Eaton Vahcé ‘Tax-
Managed Growth Portfolié, Senior Vice'-Président,and Chief Equity Investmenf Officer of EVM
and BMR and officer of 41 registered investment ¢ompanies ménaged by EVM or BMR.
Richardson violated his fiduciary duties 10 the Fundé and the Funds investors by knowingly aﬁd |
recklessly allowing the conduct complained of hergin.

44. During the Cla_ssrPen'od, defendant William H‘. Ahern, Jr. (*“Ahem”) wa$ Vice-
President of the Eaton Vance Mutual Funds Trust. During the Class Period, Ahern also acted as
Portfolio Manager of the Alabama Municipa]s Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Colorado Municipals
Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Connecficut Municipals Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Kenlucky
Municipals Poﬁfolio, the Eaton Vance Maryland Municipals Portfolio, the Eaton Vanée
Massachusetts Limited Maturity Municipals Portfolio, the Eaton Vance Miéhigan Municipa]s
Ponfo]io, the Eaton'Vancé New Jersey Limited Maturity Muniéipa]s Portfolio, the Eatoﬁ Vance
New York Limited Maturity Municipals Portfolio and the Eaton Vance Ohio Limited Maturity
Municipals Portfo]io. During the Class Period, Ahern also served as Vice-President of EVM and
BMR and as an officer of 35 registered investment companies manage by EVM‘or BMR. Ahemn
violated his ﬁduciary duties to the Funds‘and the Funds investors by knowi;mg]y and recklessly

allowing the conduct complained of herein.
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| 45. Durihg thle C]'a‘ss Period, defendant Scott H. Page (“‘Page”) was President ofthe
Eaton Vance Institutional Senior Floating-Rate Fund and Eaton Vance Prime Rate Reserves.
DUring the Class Period, Page also acted as Portfolio Manager of the Eaton Vahce Institutional
Floating-Rate Portfolio énd-Eaton Vance Prime Rate Reserves.‘ During the Class Period, Page
| acted as Vice-President of EVM and BMR and was an‘ officer of 11 registered jnvestmeﬁt
companies managed by EVM or BMR. Page violated his fiduciary duties té the Funds and the
Funds ihvestorg by kndwingiy and ‘rec_kless]y allowing the conduct complained of herein.
| 46. During the Class Period, defendant Michael W. Weilht?imer (“Weilheimer™) was -
Viée-President of the Eaton \‘/an.ée‘ Variable Truét. During the Class Period, Weilheimef also |
‘acted as Vice-PreSidenf df EVM, BMR and EVD, as defined be].ow, and waé an officer of eight
;egistéred investment cor'n'p‘anies vmanaged by EVM or BMR. Weilheimer Qiolated his ﬁdgciary
duties to the Funds and the Funds investors by knowingly aﬁd recklessly a]lowing the conduct |
‘complained of herein.
47, During tﬂg Class Period, defendant Payson F. Swaffield (f‘Swafﬁeld”) served as
Vice President of the‘ Eaton Vanée Variable Trust, the Eaton Vance Instifutional Senior Flc;ating-
Rate Fund andﬁaton Vance Prime Rate'Reserves.‘ During tvhé Class Period, Swaffield also
served as Portfolio Manger of the Eaton Vance Institutioﬁé] Senior Floating-Rate Fund and
Eaton Vance Prime Rate Reséwes; Vice-President of EVM and BMR; and as an officer of 12
-regjstered investment companies managed by EVM or BMR. Swaffield violated his fiduciary
duties to the Funds and‘ the Funds investors by knowingly and recklessly allowing the conduct
complained of herein. |
| 48. | Duﬁng the Class Period, Defendant Edward E. Smiley, Jr. (“Smiley”) served as

Vice-President of the Eaton Vance Special Investment Trust and the Eaton Vance Mutual Funds
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Trust. Duﬁng the Class Périod, Smi]ey‘ ;lso served as Vice-President of the Eaton ,Va'ncg Small
Cap Gfowth Portfolio, the Eaton Vance‘.'Sp‘eciaI Equities Portfolio and the Eaton Vance Strafegic
Income Portfolio. During the Class Period, Smiley also served as Portfolio Manager of the
Eaton Vanée: Small ‘Cap Growth Ponfolio and the Eaton Vance Special Equities Portfolio.
Duﬁng the Class Period, Smi]ey acted as Vice-President of EVM and BMR and waé an officer of
36 registered investment companies managed by EVM or BMR. Srﬁi]ey violated his fiduciary
duties to the Funds and the Funds investors By knowingly and recklessly allowing the conduét
complained of herein. |

49, Defendants Bibliowicz, Hawkes, Hayes, Park, Pearlman; Reamer, Stout, Dwight,
Treynor, Faust, Fetter, Mach, Saryan, Clemson, Maclntosh, Richérdson, Ahemn, Page, | |
Weilheimer, Swaffield and Smiley are referred to collectively herein as the “Trustee Defendants™

or the “Eaton Vance Funds Trustees.”

The Distributor

50. During the Class Peﬁod, defendant Eaton Vance Distributors, Inc. (“EVD”),
EVM’s wholly—owhcd broker déaler rcgistc;ed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
_“Exchange Ac't”), ﬁarketed and sold the‘Eaton Vance Funds as the Funds’ pxjncipgl uﬁderwn'ter_ :
and promoted and provided information regarding the portfolio managemeﬁt servicéé of the
Eatén Vance investment avdviser(s) to unaffiliated third-party broker/dealer firms. EVD also
implemented the Rule 12b-1 distribution plans entered into between EVD and the Eaton Vance
Funds. EVD is located at The Eaton Vance Building, 255 State Street, Boston, MA 02109.

The Eaton Vance Funds

51.  Nominal defendants the Eaton Vance Funds, as identified in the list annexed

hereto as Exhibit A, are series of various Eaton Vance business trusts organized under the laws
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of the State ofMas‘sachL;settvs‘.' Each trﬁst has a board of ﬁ‘u_stees responéible for the trust’s
administration. The‘ Eaton Vance Funds offer mﬁltiple classes of shares, with each class
representing a pro rata iyn‘terest‘.i'n each Eaton Vance Fund. Each Eaton Vancé Fund invests its
assets in a portfolio,‘whichviis an open-end iﬁanagement invesiment company with substantially )
the same investment objectives, policies and restrictions as each Fund. The Eaton Vance
portfolios are organized as tmsfs under the laws of the State of New York. .Each portfolio i\as a
board oftrusteés chargéd with the overall m‘anagement and supervision of the portfolio. The
Eaton Vance Funds aré named as nominal defendants herein to the ex|tent that they may be
deemed necessary and indispensable parties pﬁrsuant to Rule 19 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and to the ekt.ent necessary to ensure the a\?ailability of adequate femédies.

" The John Doe Defendants

52. ' The true names and capacities of defendants sued herein as John Does 1 through
- 100 are other active participants with the above-named participants whose identities have yet to
be ascertained.

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

- DEFENDANTS IMPROPERLY USED FUND ASSETS TO UNDULY
INFLUENCE BROKERS TO PUSH EATON VANCE MUTUAL FUNDS
| ON UNWITTING INVESTORS

53. Unbcknownst‘ to plaintiffs and other members of the Class, Eaton Vance used fhe '
* - assets of its mutual funds to ifnproperly pay brokerages to aggressively push Eaton Vance mutual
funds on unwitting invéstors. Ultimately, Eaton Vance’s practices led to investigations by the
SEC, NASD and various state regulators. To date, these investigations have resulted in fines and
censure of at least one brokerage house, Morgan Stanley, for acceptance of thé improper

inducements from Eaton Vance.
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Improper “Meeting Support And Fees”

| 54.  Eaton Vance used what it euphen]_istically termed “meeting suppoﬁ” or “meeting
fees” as a method of improper payment to brokerage houses for their directing unwitting
inve_stors intn Eaton Vance bFunds. According to a former Eaton Vnnce account manager,
meeting Suppor't and fees involved snbstantial amounts, with as rnuch as $60,000 on ﬁore being
paid at a time to brokerages. Moreover; according to the former Eafon Vance account rn'anager,
because of the si.ze of the iransactjons involved, Eaton Vange’s home office would be requiréd to
grant pe‘rmission for such payments, whiph it nlways did. |

55.  According to both a former Eaton Vance East Cnast wholesaler and a formcr
Eaton Vance marketing representative, Eaton Vance would also provide luxufy outings éuch _aé
golf trips and dinners to brokers that Eaton Varnce again euphemis_tically r_eférred to as “meeting
support” to have brokers steer unwitting investors into Eaton .Vance Funds.

Improper Participation in the Morgan Staniev Shelf Space Program:

56. Eaton Vance panicipated in a payment program at Morgan Stanley referred to as
the “Panners Program.” The Paﬁners Program was nothing more than a series of veileﬁ
payments by Eaton Vance to Morgan Stanley to steer unknowing investors into Eatlon”Vance
Funds. According to one former Eaton Vancé senior ménager, Eaton Vance was esééntially
paying for “shelf space” at Morgan. Stanley.

57.  Through the Partners Program, Eaton Vance paid excessive commissions to
Morgan Stanley brokers to induce them to sell Eaton Vance Funds. According to former
Morgan Sfanley brokers and internal Morgan Stanley documents, pursuant to thve Eaion Vance
- Partners Program, Morgan Stanley adopted a new brnker “Incentive. Compensation” payout grid

that provided up to 3% greater compensation for “asset-based products” versus “transaction-
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based products.” Eaton Vaﬁce Funds were classified as “asset-based products,” while non-

Partner Program funds were classified as “transaction-based products” and resulted in a smaller

'~ payout to the broker..

58.  Because of the improper inducements paid by Eaton Vance, Morgan Stanley’s

" management made it clear through firm-wide memos that it wanted its brokers to take advantage

of the payout grid by directing investors into Eaton Vance Funds. As stated by Bruce Alonso, -
the managing director of Morgan Stanley’s Investor Advisory Services Division, in a firm-wide
message entitled “An Important Message from Bruce Alonso Regarding the 2003 Compensation -

Plan” circulated throughout Morgan Stanley in December of 2002: “the recently announced

12003 Compensation Plan provides you with the oppoﬁunity to increase your overall

compensation by focusing on asset-based products,” i.e., Eaton Vance Funds.

59.  Under the compensation grid discussed above, for instance, a broker whose

annual production is over $1 million received 42% of the commissions on “asset-based products”

and 40% of the commiééions on “transaction-based products.” Accordingly, brokers generally
received a higher payout {from the sale of funds of the Eaton Vance Funds than “non-Parmér”
mufual funds. .

60. - Additionally, in order to further push Eaton Vance Funds and reap the bengﬁts ‘-of |
the extra inducements from Eaton Vance, Morgan Stanley management gave Eaton Vance Funds -
priority placement in the review of fund materials to be distributed to Morgan Stanley brokers;
ga\;e Eaton Vance ac;‘:ess to Morgan Stanley’s branch system at the branch managers” discretion;
gave Eaton Vance direct access to Morgan Stanley brokers; included Eaton Vancé‘ in Morgan
Stanley broker events; and invited Eaton Vance to participate in programs broadcasted fo brokers

over Morgan Stanley’s internal systems.
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The Fine and Censure of Morgan Stanley for its Involvement with Eaton Vance

61. Morgan Stanley is just oﬂe of thg:‘brokerage houses to which Eaton Vance made
| improper inducement payments in order to have Eaton Vance funds pushed on in\?estors. Forits
role in accepting theée payments ﬁom Ea&on Vance, among other wrongdoing, Moréan Stanley
has been fined and_censuréd by the SEC and NASD and has agreed to pay fines totaily 350
million. . o "

62.  With respeci to the “shelf space” program involving Eaton Vance discussed |
above, Stephen M. Cutler, Director of the SEC’s Division of Enforcemeﬁt, stated tﬁ‘at
unbeknownst to investors in the Eaton Vaﬁce Funds, “Morgan Stanley réceived monetary |
incentives {from Eaton Vance] -- in'the form of ‘.‘shcif space” payrﬁcnts -- to sell palfticulér
mutﬁal funds [i.e., Eaton Vance Funds] to its customers. When customers purchase mutual ‘
funds, they should understand thle natt.llre and extent of any cbﬁﬂicté of interest that may affect
the transaction.f’ |

63.  Likewise, the investigation by the SEC and NASD and the resulting sett]emept
with the first target, Morgan Stanley, has récei_ved wide praise, including from members of

| Congress. As stated by Sen. Peter Fitzgerald (R-I11.) who is leading a Congressional iﬂquiry of
the mutual funds industry: B .7
| The settlement goes to show that the mutual fund managers as well |

as broker dealers have too often viewed mutual fund shareholders

as sheep to be sheared. Congress has to figure out the variety of
ways people are being sheared so that we can stop it.

Brook A. Masters and Kathleen Day, Morgan Stanley Settles with SEC, NASD; Firm Accused of
Failing to Disclose Funds’ Payments, THE WASHINGTON POST, Nov. 18, 2003, at E1.

The 1nvestigation Continues

64. On January 14, 2004, The Wall Street Journal published an article under the

headline, “SEC Readies Cases On Mutual Funds’ Deals With Brokers.” Citing “‘a person
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familiar with the investigatioﬁ,” the article noted that the SEC was “close to filing its first

charges against mutual fund companies related to arrangements that direct trading commissions

o brokerage firms that favor those fund companies’ products.” The article stated in pertinent
part as follows:

The SEC has been probing the business arrangements between fund
companies and brokerage firms since last spring. It held a news
conference yesterday to announce it has found widespread evidence that
brokerage firms steered investors to certain mutual funds because of
payments they received from fund companies or their investment
advisers as part of sales agreements.

Officials said the agency has opened investigations intd eight brokerage
 firms and a dozen mutual funds that engaged in'a longstanding practice
known as “revenue sharing.” Agency officials said they expect that

number to grow as its probe expands. They declined to name either the
- funds or the brokerage firms.

The SEC said payments varied between 0. 05% and 0.04% of sales and up
to 0.25% of assets that remained invested in the fund. [...]

-People familiar with the investigation say regulators are looking into
examples of conflict of interest when fund companies use shareholder
money to cover costs of sales agreements instead of paying the sales
costs themselves out of the firm’s own pockets. The boards of funds,
too, could be subject to scrutiny for allowing shareholders®
commission dollars to be used for these sales agreements. In other
cases, the.SEC is probing whether funds violated policies that would
require costs associated with marl\etmg a fund to be included i ina
fund’s so-called 12b-1 plan.

Jd. (Emphasis added).

65.  Eaton Vance has admitted that the SEC, NASD and the Commonwealth of

Massachusetts have focused “intensive inquiries” on Eaton Vance regarding the conduct alleged

in this Complaint.
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THE EATON YANCE DEFENDANTS
. ENGAGED IN IMPROPER CONDUCT

The Trustee Defendants Breached Their
Fiduciary Duties To Eaton Vance Funds Investors

66. Eatoh Vance Funds publ-i\c filings state that the board of ti'ustees for‘each Eaton
Vaﬁée trust 1s responsible for the maﬂagement and supervision of each fund compn’éing the trust.
In this regard, the January 1, 2003 State\m‘ent of Additional Infvc_mnat.io‘n attached to the -
Registration Statement fof funds offered by the Eaton Vance Growth Trust (the “Statémént of
Additional Information”) that included the E‘at‘on Vance Information Age Fuhd and is available |
to the investor upon request, is typical of the Statements of Additional Information availab]e for
other Eaton Vance Funds. It stétes that “the Trustees of the Trust are responsible for thc.overa;ll |
rhanagement and supervision of the affairs of the Trust.”

67. Moreover, the Form lQ-K for Eaton Vance for the fiscal year that ended October
31,'2003 stated, wijh réspect to the dutieélofthe trusteés, as follows: | |

[Eaton Vance’s] investment advisory agreements for management
services with each of the funds provide for fees ranging from 10 to
100 basis points of average net assets annually. For funds that
‘are registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended (“Registered Funds”), a majority of the independent -
trustees (i.e., those unaffiliated with the management company)
of these Registered Funds must approve the investment
advisory agreements annually. The fund trustees generally may
terminate these agreements upon 30 to 60 days notice without
penalty. [...] '

[Eaton Vance] uses the Master/Feeder structure for most of its
funds. Master/Feeder is a two-tiered arrangement in which funds
(“Feeder Funds™) with substantially identical investment objectives
pool their assets by investing in a common portfolio (“Master
Fund”). Each Eaton Vance Master Fund (except funds managed
by LGM or OrbiMed) has entered into an investment advisory
agreement with EVM or BMR. Although the specific terms of
these agreements vary, the basic terms of the agreements are
similar. Pursuant to the agreements, EVM or BMR provides
overall investment management services to each of the Master
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- Funds, subject to the supervision of each fund’s Board of
Trustees in accordance with each fund’s fundamental
- investment objectives and policies. {...]

EVM also serves as administrator or manager under an .
Administration Service Agreement or Management Contract (each
an “Agreement”) to the funds (including those managed by LGM
and OrbiMed). Under such Agreements EVM is responsible for
managing the business affairs of these funds, subject to the
oversight of each funds’ Board of Trustees. [...]

[Clertain funds have adopted distribution plans, which, subject to
applicable law, provide for reimbursement to the Company for the

“payment of applicable sales commissions to retail distribution
firms and for distribution services through the payment of an
ongoing distribution fee (i.e., a Rule 12b-1 fee). These distribution
plans are implemented through distribution agreements between
EVD and the funds. Although the specific terms of the agreements
vary, the basic terms of the agreements are similar. Pursuant to the
agreements, EVD acts as underwriter for the fund and distributes
shares of the fund through unaffiliated dealers. Each distribution
plan and agreement is initially approved and its subsequent
continuance must be approved annually by the trustees of the
respective funds, including a majority of the independent
trustees. [Empha51s added.]

68.  Another section of the Statement of Additional Information sets forth in greater
detail the purported pro“ccss' by which the investment managers are selected:

In considering the renewal of the investment advisory agreement(s)
between the Portfolios and the investment.adviser, the Special
Committee [of the Board of Trustees] considered, among other
things, the following:

. An independent report comparing fees (m the case of a
renewal),

lnfonnation on the investment performance (in the case of a
renewal) the relevant peer group(s) of funds and appropriate
indices;

. Sales and redemption data in respect of the Fund (in the case of
arenewal); :

. The economic outlook and the general investment outlook in
the relevant investment markets;
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. Eaton Vance, Lloyd George and OrbiMed's results and financial
condition and the overall organization of the investment adviser;

. Arrangements regarding the distribution of Fund shares;

. The procedures _uscditAo determine the fair value of each Fund's .
assets;

. The allocation of brokerage, including allocations to soft
dollar brokerage and allocations to firms that sell Eaton Vance
fund shares;

-

. Eaton Vance’s management of the relationship with the
custodian, subcustodians and fund accountants;

.. The resources devoted to Eaton Vance’s compliance efforts
undertaken on behalf of the funds it manages and the record of
compliance with the investment policies and restrictions and with
policies on personal securities transactions;

. The quality, nature, cost and character of the administrative and
other non-investment management services prov1ded by Eaton
Vance and its affiliates; :

. Investment managing staffing;

. Operating expenses (including transfer agency expenses) pald
to third parties; and

Information provided to mvestors mcludmg the Fund’s
shareholders

69.  The Investment Company Institute (“ICI”), of which Eaton Vance is a member,
 recently described the duties of mutual fund boards as follows:

More than 77 million Americans have chosen mutual funds to gain
convenient access to a professnonally managed and diversified portfolio of
investments.

Investors receive many other benefits by investing in mutual funds,
including strong legal protections and full disclosure. In addition,
shareholders gain an extra layer of protection because each mutual fund
has a board of directors looking out for shareholders’ interests.

Unlike the directors of other corporations, mutual fund directors are

responsible for protecting consumers, in this case, the funds’
investors. The unique “watchdog” role, which does not exist in any
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“other type of company in America, provides investors with the

confidence of knowing the directors oversee the advisers who manage

and service their investments.

In particular, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, the board

of directors of a mutual fund is charged with looking after how the

fund operates and overseeing matters where the interests of the fund

and its shareholders differ from the interest’s of its investment adviser

or management company. [Emphasis added. 1

70. In truth and in fact, the Eaton Vance Funds boards of trustees, i.e., the Trustee
Defendants, were capt_i\}e to and controlled by Eaton Vance and the Investment Adviser
Défendants, who induced the Trustee Defendants to breach their statutory and fiduciary duties to
manage and supervise the Eaton Vance Funds, approve all significant agreements and otherwise
take reasonable steps to prevent the Investment Adviser Defendants from skimming Eaton Vance -
Funds assets. In many cases, key Eaton Vance Funds trustees and officers were employees or
former employees of the Investment Adviser Defendants and were beholden for their posi'tions,
‘not to Eaton Vance Funds investors, but, rather, to the Investment Adviser Defendants they were
supposed to oversee. The Trustee Defendants served for indefinite terms at the pleasure of the
Investment Adviser Defendants and formed supposedly independent committees, charged with
responsibility for billions of dollars of fund assets (much of which were comprised of investors’
college and retirement savings).
71. To ensure that the trusteés were compliant, the Investment Adviser Defendants

often recruited key fund trustees from the ranks of investment adviser companies and paid them -

excessive salaries for their service as trustees. For example, James B. Hawkes, the Chairman,

! The ICI describes itself as the national association of the U.S. investment company industry. Founded in

1940, its membership includes approximately 8,601 mutual funds, 604 closed-end funds, 110 exchange-traded

- funds, and six sponsors of unit investment trusts. Its mutual fund members have 86.6 million individual
shareholders and manage approximately $7.2 trillion in investor assets. The quotation above is excerpted from a
paper entitled Understanding the Role of Mutual Fund Directors, avallable on the ICI's website at
http://www.ici.org/issues/dir/bro_mf_directors.pdf. :
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Preéidem and Chief Execuﬁve Ofﬁcer 0f BMR, EVM, Eaton Vance and EV, is alsplthe tmsté'e )
and/or‘ofﬁcer of 195 registered inve-stm"ent éompanies-in.the‘Eaton' Vanée fund cdmplex (boﬂa _
master and feeder funds in the master-feeder structure), including the Eaton Vance Growth Trust.
Other fmsteeé respo.nsible -fbr managemént of the Eaton Vance Growth Trust oversaw betWeen'
192 énd 195 portfolios in the Eaton Vance fund complex.

*72.  In exchange for creating.and managing the Eaton Vance Funds, the‘Inves'tmgnt
Adviser Defendants Chargéd the Eaton Vance Funds a variety of fees, each of which was |
calculated as a percentage of asséts undér management. Hence, the moré money invested in the |
funds, the greater the fees paid to Eaton Vance. Ini'theory, the fees charged to fund investo_fs, are
negotiated at ann’s-]ength»betwéen‘ the fund board and the investment managément, comﬁany éhd
rhust be approved by the independent members of the board. However, as a result of the Trustee
Defendants’ dependence on th‘e ‘investment management company, and its fai]ure to préperly
mahage the inv_estment .advisers, millions of do]lars n Eaton‘\_/ance Funds assets-were
transfefred through fees payable from Eaton Vance Funds assets td thellnvestment Adviser
Defendants that weré of no benefit to fund investors.

73.  These practices proved to be enormously profitable for Eaton Van'cg af the
expenses of plaintiffs and other members of the Class who had invested in tﬁe Eatoﬁ Vance
| Funds. In this regard, a Forbes article published‘on September .1 5, 2003, stated as follows:
The average net profit mafgin at publicly held mutual fund firms was _
18.8% last year, blowing away the 14.9% margin for the financial industry
overall . ... [flor the most part, customers do not enjoy the benefits of the
economies of scale created by having larger funds. Indeed, once a fund
reaches a certain critical mass, the directors know that there is no
discernible benefit from having the fund become bigger by drawing in
more investors; in fact, they know the opposite to be true - once a

fund becomes too large it loses the ability to trade in and out of
positions without hurting its investors.
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" The [mutual fund] business grew 71-fold (20 fold in real terms) in the
two decades through 1999, yet costs as a percentage of assets somehow
managed to go up 29%. ... Fund vendors have a way of stacking their
boards with rubber stamps. As famed investor Warren Buffett opines in
Berkshire Hathaway’s 2002 annual report: ‘Tens of thousands of
“independent” directors, over more than six decades, have failed
miserably.” A genuinely independent board would occasionally fire an
incompetent or overcharging fund advisor. That happens just about
never.” [Emphasis added.]

74.  Plaintiff and other members of the class never knew, nor ‘coubld fhey have kn‘own,‘ '
from reading the fund p‘rospectuses‘ or otherwise, of the extent to which the Investment Adviser
Défendan§$ wefe using directed ,bl"okerage, commissions and so-called‘ 12b-1 fees to improperl_y
sipﬁon assets from the funds. | | |

| The Investment Adviser Defendants Used
_Rule 12b-1 Mark.e.tigg Fees For Improper Purposes

75. Rule 1.2b—l, promulgated by the SEC“ pursuant to the Investment Company.Act,'
prohibits mutuai fuhds from directly or indirectly‘ distﬁbu;ing or marketing their own shares
‘vunl‘ess certain enumerat__éd éonditions set forth in Rule 12b-1 are met. The Rule 12b-1
conditions, among others, are that payments‘for marketing must be mad.e'pursuz.mt to a written
plan .“degcribing all material aspects of the proposed financing of distribution;” all agreements
with any pérsoﬁ relating tlo implementation of the ‘plan rhust be in writing; the plan must be
| appro.ved By a Qote of ;hé majority of the board of directors; and the board of di;ectors must B
review, at least quarterly, ';‘a written report of the amounts so expendéd and the purposes for
Which such expenditures were made.” Additionally, the directors “have a duty to request and
evaluate, and any berson who is a party to any agTeement' with ‘such‘ company re]ating to such
plan shall have a duty to furnish, such info_rmation as may reasonably be necessary to an

vinvfoi'med determination of whether the plan should be implemented or continued.” The directors

may continue the plan “only if the board of d'irectors who vote to approve such implementation
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plens and the payments made pursuant to the Rule 12b-1 Plan, even though such payments not _
only henned existing Eaton Vance‘Funvds Shareno]ders, but also were improper]y used to induce
‘brokers to breach their duties of loyalty'to their prospective Eaton Vance Funds inyéstors.

78.7 Moreover, at least five ciasses of Eaton Vance Funds were closed to new "
investors (the ;‘Closed FundS”) and, consequently, the so-called 12b-1 fees simply could not have
been used to market and disvtn'bute them. Nevertheless, the Investment Adviser Defendants \
received Rule 12b 1 fees charged to the Closed Funds. The Closed Funds that charged such
Rule 12b-1 fees are: Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Growth 1.1 Fund Classes A, B and C; and Eaton
Vance Tax-Managed Small-Cap Growth 1.1 Fund Classes B and C

79. As discussed throughout this Complaint, in violaticn cf Rule 1v2b-l and Svection
28(e) of the Exchange Act, defendants made additional undisclosed paym_enfs to brokers, in the
form of excess commissions,‘ that were not disclosed or autncrized by the Eaton Vance:F unds
Ru]e‘ 12b-1 plan

Improper Use of “Soft Dollars”: The Investment Adviser Defendants Charged
Their Overhead To Eaton Vance Funds Investors

80.  Investment advisers routinely pay broker commissions on the nurchase- and sale of
- fund securities, and such commissions may, under certain circumstances, properly be used to

- purchase certain other services from brokers as well. Specifically, the Section 28(e) “safe. -
harbor” provision of the Exchange Act carves ont an exception to the rule that requires
investment management companies to obtain the best possible execution price for thci; trades.
Section 28(e) provides that fund managers shall not be deemed to have breached their ﬁduciary
duties “solely by reason of [théir] having caused the account to pay a . . . broker . . . in excess of
the amount of commission another . . . broker . . . would have charged for effecting-the |

transaction, if such person determined in good faith that the amount of the commission is
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reasonable in relation to the velue of the brokerage and research services provided.” 15 U.S.C.
§28(e) (emphasis added). In other words, funds are allowed to include in “commissions”
payment for not on]y purchase and sales execution, but also for specified services, whieh the
SEC has defmed to 1nclude “any serv1ce that prov1des lawful and appropriate assxstance to the
money manager in the performance of his investment decision-making responsibilities.” The |
commission amounts cbarged by brokerages to investment advisers in excess‘of the purchase and -
sale charges are known within the industry as “Soft Dollars.” |
8_1. The Investment Adviser Defendants went far beyond what is permitted by the

Section 28(e) safe harbor. The In'vestment Adviser Defendants used Soft Dollars to pay
overhead costs (for items such as computer hardware and software) thus charging ‘Eaton Vance
Funds investors for costs not cotfered by the Section 28(e) safe harbor and t}iat, consistent with

| the investrnent- advisers’ fiduciary duties, properly should heve been bome by the Investrnent

- Adviser Defendants.

The Impropei"'Use of Excessive Commissions

82. As detailed ébove, the Investment Adviser Defendants also paid excessive
cornmission.s to broker dealers on top of any il]egitimate Soft Dollars to steer tbeir clients to
“Eaton Vance Funds and directed brokerage business to ﬁnns that favored Eaton Vence Funds.
Such payments and directed-brokerage'payments were used to fund sales contests and other
-undisclosed financial incentives to push Eaton Vance Funds. These incentives created an
undisclosed conflict ofinterest and caused brokers to steer clients to Eaton Vance Funds
regardless of the funds’ investment quality relative to other investment alternatives and to

thereby breach their duties of loyalty. By paying the excessive brokerage commissions, the
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Iniléstment Adviser Defendants additio#glly viclated Section 12 of the Investment 'Company Act,
becaué.e,such payments were‘not ma‘de i‘)ursuant to a valid Rule 12b-1 pl‘ar'l. |

83.  The excessive commissions did not fund any services that benefited the Eaton
Vance Funds shareh‘oldevrs-. This practic;a materially harmed plaintiffs and other members of thé
Claés fro'm-whém the i]legitimate and improper fees under the guise Qf so-called Soﬁ Dollars and
excessive commissions were taken.

Demand on the Boards to Take Corrective Action Would Be Futile

84‘. Plaintiffs have not méde ény demand on the Boards of Tfustees (‘the"‘Boards”) to |
institute this action. Such demand would be a futile and useless act because the Boards are
incapable of making an independent and disinterestéd decision for the following reasons:

o gs. As alleged in detail herein, each of the Trustee Defendants was appointed by, and
serves at the pleasure of] the InQeslment Adviser Defendanfs.l Each of the Trustee Defendants is |
controlled by and beholden to the Investment Adviser Defendants for their positions and
substaﬁtial compensation as Trﬁstees. Accordingly, each of the Tfustee Defendants is incapable
of evaluaiing a demand independently and disinterestedly.

86. ‘As alleged ip detail hereih, each of the Trustee Defendants knowin’g]y participated
in, approved, and/or reckleésly disregarded‘th'e wrongs complained of hereiﬁ. The conduct of the -
‘ Trus‘tee Defendants was iﬁ breach of their fiduciary duties and could not have been an exercise of
good faith business judgment.

87. For .exampl'c, each of the Trustee Defendants received substantial payments and
benefits by virtue of their rﬁembership on one or more Boards and their control of hundreds of
Ea;on Vancé Funds, as follows: .

a) Defendant Bibliowicz oversaw 193 Portfolios and received compensation of '
at Jeast $160,000 in each of the last three years;
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b) Defendant Hayes oversaw 195 Portfolios and received compensation of at
least $170,000 in each of the last three years. During his tenure as a Trustee
since 1986, he received millions of dollars in compensation and other benefits;

¢) Defendant Reamer oversaw 195 Portfolios and received compensation of at

- least $160,000 in each of the last three years. During his tenure as a Trustee
since 1985, he received millions of dollars in compensation and other benefits;

d) Defendant Stout oversaw 195 Portfolios and recetved compensatlon of at least
$160,000 in each of the last three years;

‘) Defendant Park oversaw 192 Portfolios and received compensation of
$16O OOO in 2003; and

f) Defendant Pearlman oversaw 192 Ponfollos and recewed compensatlon of
$160 000 in 2003.

88. Each of the Trustee Defendants has thus benefited from the Wrongdoing herein
alleged and has engaged in such condu‘ct to preserve his or her positions of contrdl and.the
| benefits thereof. ‘. |
89. Each of the Trustee Defendants continues to serve as a Trustee, and the Trustee
Defendants comprise the Boards. As disclosed in the Prospectuses, Defendants Bibliowicz and .‘
Hawkes are admittedly non-independent due to their positions with Eaton Vance, the Investnlent
Adviser Defendants and/or their afﬁltates Defendants Hawkes, Reamer, and Hayes have served
-as Trustees of one or more Eaton Vance Funds since 1982, 1985, and 1986, respeCtively. Thus,
m order to bring this'action for breaching their fiduciary duties, the Trustee Defendants wbuld be
v reqdired to sue themselves and their fellow Trustees with whom they have had close business
and personal re]ationships fer nearly 20 years. Accordingly, a majority of the Boards is-

incapable of evaluating a demand independently and disinterestedly.
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The Prospectuses Were Material]y False And Misleading

90.
more of the prospectuses (the *“Prospectuses”), pursuant to which the Eaton Vance Funds shares

were offeréd; each of which contained substantially the same materially false and misleading

Plaintiffs and other members of the Class were entitled to, and did receive, one or

statements and omissions regarding 12b-1 fees, commissions and Soft Dollars.

9L

Vance Funds’ prospectuses and available to the investor upon request, stated as follows with

As stated above, the Statement of Additional Information, referred to in the Eaton

respect to Soft Dollars:

92,

In considering the renewal of the investment advisory agreement(s)
between the Portfolios and the investment adviser, the Special .

. Committee [of the Board of Trustees] considered, among other

things, the following: [...]

The allocation of brokerage, including allocations to soft dollar
brokerage and allocations to firms that sell Eaton Vance fund
shares; [...] ‘ '

The Statement of Additional Information also stated the following with respect to

Soft Dollars, revenue sharing and directed brokerage:

93.

material and damaging adverse facts which damaged plaintiffs and other members of the Class:

Subject to the requirement that the investment adviser shall use its
best efforts to seek and execute portfolio security transactions at
advantageous prices and at reasonably competitive spreads or
commission rates, the investment adviser is authorized to consider
as a factor in the selection of any broker-dealer firm with whom
portfolio orders may be placed the fact that such firm has sold or is
selling Fund shares or shares of other investment companies
sponsored by the investment adviser or its affiliates. This policy is
not inconsistent with a rule of the NASD, which rule provides
that no firm which is a member of the NASD shall favor or
disfavor the distribution of shares of any particular

investment company or group of investment companies on the
basis of brokerage commissions received or expected by such
firm from any source. ‘

The Prospectuses failed to disclose and misrepresented, inter alia, the fo]lowing
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| (a) | that tﬁé Investment Adviser Defendénts authon’zed the payment frorﬁ fund
assets of excessive cémmission_s to broker dealers in exchange for preferential marketing
s_érvipes and that such payments were in breach of their fiduciary duties, in violation of Section
12(b) of the Investment Compény Act, and unprqtected by any “safe harbor”;
| | (b) that the Investment Adviser Defendants directed brokerage paymehts to
firms that favored Eaton Vance VFu‘nds, which was a form of marketing that wés not disclosed in
or authorized by the.Ea.ton Vance Funds Rule 12b;1 Plan; |
©) thatl the Eaton Vance Funds Rule 12b-1 Plan was not in compliance With
Rule 12b-1‘, and that payments made pursuant to the plan were in violation of Section 12 of the _
Investment Company Act because, among other reasons, the plan was not properly evaluated by
the Trﬁstee Defendants a‘n‘d‘there was not a reasonable likelihood that the plan would benefit the 1
c'ompany and its shareholders; | | |
(d) - that by paying brokers to aggressivel;lf.steer their clients to Eaton Vance
Furnds, the ‘Investment ;\“dviser Defendants were knowingly aiding and abetting a bfeaéh of
ﬁdupiary duties, and broﬁting frdm the brokers’ improper conduct;
(e) that any economies of scale achie‘vgd by marketing of the Eaton Vance
-ands to new investors were not passed on to Eaton Vance Funds investors; on tﬁe contrary, as
the Eaton Vance Funds grew, _fees charged to Eaton Vance' Funds investors confinued to
increase; |
(f)  that defendants improperly used Soft Dollars and excessive commissions,
paid from Eaton Vance Funds assets, to pay for overhead expenses the cost of which should have |

been borne by Eaton Vance and not Eaton Vance Funds investors; and
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(g)  thatthe Trustee Defendants had abdicated their duties under the
Investment Company Act and their common law fiduciary duties, that they failed to monitor and
-supervise the Investment Adviser Defendants and that, as a consequence, the Investment Adviser

Defendants were able to systematically skim millions of dollars from the Eaton Vance Funds.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

- 94.  Plaintiffs bring certain of these claims as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of all persons or entities who
purchased, redeemed or held shar.es or‘ﬁke interests in any of the Eaton Vance Funds between
January 30, 1999 and November 17, 2003, inclusive, and who were damaged thereby (the
“Class”). Excluded from the Class are defendants, members of their immediéte familieé and |
their legal representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any entity in wﬁiéh defendants have
or had a controlling interest. | -

95. The_members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impraéticable. While the exact number of Class members is un}méwri .to plaintiffs at this time
and can only be ascertained thrdugh ap'propﬁate discovery, plaintiffs believe that theré' are many
thousands of memi)ers in the proposed Class. Record owners and other members o'f tﬁe Class
may be identified from records maintained ‘by EVD, the Eaton Vance Funds and thé Investment
Adviser Defendants and may be notified of the pendency of thié action by mail, using the form of
notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions.

96.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the m;embers of the Class as all
meﬁbers of the Class are siﬁ]ilarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct iﬁ violation of
federal law that 1s complained. of herein.

97.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the

Class and have retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.
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" INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT CLAIMS
COUNT I
AGAINST THE INVESTMENT ADVISER DEFENDANTS AND TRUSTEE

 DEFENDANTS FOR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 34(B) OF THE INVESTMENT
~ COMPANY ACT ON BEHALF OF THE CLASS

100. . Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as if fullly |

set forth herein. |

'101.  This Count is asserted against the Investment Adl'viser Defendants in their role as
" investment advisers to the Eaton Vance Funds and égainst the Trustee Defendants for tﬁeir role
in the création_ of the materialfy false and misleading Prospeqtuses. ‘ ‘

102.  The Investment Adviser Defendants and Trustee Defendants m.ad‘e_ untrue
statements of material f,a_ct.in registration statements and reports filed and disseminated pursuant
" to the Invcstmcnt‘ C.qmpany Act and omilted 1o ‘sta‘te facts necessary 1o prevent the statementé
made there‘inr, in light of the circumstances under which they were vmade, from being materially

false and misleading.. The Investmént Adviser Defendants énd Trustee Defendants failed to
disclose the following: |

(a) ;hat the Investment Adviser Defendants authorized the payment from fund
-asse‘ts of exce_ssive commissions to broker dga]crs in exchaxige for preferential marketing
| services and that such payments were in breach of their fiduciary duties, in violation of Sgctidn
lé(b) of the Investmgnt Company’ Act, and uﬁprbtected by aﬁy “safe harbor”;

~ (b)  that the Investment Adviser Defendants improperly directed brokerage

payments to firms that favored Eaton Vance Funds, which coﬁstituted a form of marketing that
was not disclosed in or authorized by the Eaton Vance Funds Rule 12b-1 Plan;

(c) that the Eaton Vance Funds Rule 12b-1 Plan was not in compliance with

Rule 12b-1 , and that payments made'pursuant to the plan were in violation of Section 12(b) of
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the Investment Company Act becausel‘ iamong other reasons, the plan was not prqperly evaluated
by the Trustee Defendants and thefe v;/as nota reasonab]e likelihood that th¢>plavn would béneﬁt
- the company and jts shareholders;
| (d) . that by pa‘ying b‘rokers to aggressively steer their clients to Eaton Vance

.Fu‘nds, the Investment Adviser Dcf éndants were knowingly aiding and abetting a ‘bréach of
fiduciary duties, and proﬁﬁng from the brokers’ improper conduct;

(e) thé{ any economies of scale achieved by marketing of the ‘Eaton'Van‘ce
Funds to new investors were not passed On'td Eaton Vance Funds investors; on the contrary, as‘
the Eaton Vance Funds grew, fees charged to Eaton Vance Funds investors continued to
Increase; |

(H that defendants improperly used Soft Dollarsv and gxéessive commissions,
paid from Eaton Vance Funds assetsé to pay for ov¢rhead eipenses the cost of which éhou]d have.
been borne by Eaton Vance énd not Eatoﬁ Vance Funds in?estors; and

(2) that the Trustee Defendants had abdicated their duties under the
Investment Company Act and their common law ﬁduciary‘dutics, that the Trustee Defendants
failed to monitor and supervise the Investment Adviser Defendants and that, as a cpnéequence,
‘the Investment Adviser Défendant's were able to systematically skim mi]lioﬁs of déllars from the
Eatén Vance Funds.

103. By reason of the conduct described above, the ]n\'/e'stment,Advi'ser Defendants
and the Tru‘stee Defendants violated Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act.
‘ 104.  As a direct, proximate and foreseeable result of the Investment Adviéer

Defendants’ and Trustee Deféﬁdants’ violation of Section 34(b) of the Investment’ Company Act,

Eaton Vance Funds investors have incurred damages.

38



105. Plaintiffé an‘dvthve other members of the Class have been specially injured by
Defendants’ violations of Section‘34(b) of the Investment éompaﬁy Act. Such injuries were
.su_ff_'ered direc'tly b,)f. the shareholders, rather than by the Eaton Vance Funds theﬁselves.

o 106. Tiﬂe ]nvéstment Adviser Defendants and Trusiée Defendants, individually and in'
concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means or instrumentalities of interstate cémfnercq |
and/or of the mails, enééged and participated in a vcontinuous course of coﬁduct to cOnceai such
adverse material infonﬁati§n.
| COUNT I
AGAINST EVD, THE INVESTMENT ADVISER DEFENDANTS,AND THE

TRUSTEE DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO SECTION 36(B) OF THE INVESTMENT
COMPANY ACT DERIVATIVELY ON BEHALF OF THE EATON YANCE FUNDS

107. Plain_tiffs“ repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above and
| otherwise incorporate the allegations contained above. |
108.  This Count is brought by the Class (as Eatdn‘Vance Funds securities holders) on
behalf of the Eaton Vance Funds against EVD, the lnvestmeht Adviser Defendants and the
Trustee Defendants for‘breach of their fiduciary duties as de’ﬁned by Section 36(b) of the |
lnvéstment Company Act.
109. EVD, the Investment Adviser Defendams'and the Trustee Defendants had a
ﬁvduciary duty to‘the'Eat‘on Vance Funds and the Class with respect to the receipt of
_ compensation for services and of péyménts of a material nature made by and to EVD, the
Investment Adviser Defendénts .and the Trustee Defendants.
110. EVD, the Investment Adviser Defendants and the Trustee Defendants violated
Se(;tion 36(b) by improper]y charging investors in the Eaton Vance Funds purported Rule 12b-1
marketing fees, and by drawing on Eaton Vance Funds assets to make undisclosed payments of

Soft Dollars and excessive commissions, as defined herein, in violation of Rule 12b-1.
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111. By reasoﬁ of the condué‘f described above, EVD, the Investment A‘d‘vise'r_
Defehdants aﬁd the Trustee Defendants viclated Sectioh 36(b) of the Investment Company ‘Act.

112.  Asadirect, proxim.ate and foreseeable result of EVD’s, the Invesfment Adviser
Defenvdants’: and the Trustee Defendants’ breaches of fiduciary duties in their roles as pri‘ncipél
underwriter, investmenf adviscrs, aﬁd trustees and officers, respéctively, to Eaton Vahce_Funds
investors, Eaton Vance Fuﬁﬁs and the gléss have incurred millions of dollars _in d‘amages.

1 13. Plaintiffs, in this count, seek to recover improper Rule 12b-1 fees, Soﬁ Dpl]afs, '
excessive commissions and the maﬁagement fees charged fhe Eaton Vance Funds by EVD, the
Investment Adviser Defendants and the Tfustee Defendants. |

COUNT I
AGAINST EATON VANCE, EV AND EVM (AS CONTROL PERSONS OF EVD), :
EATON VANCE AND EV (AS CONTROL PERSONS OF EVM AND BMR), LGML (AS
A CONTROL PERSON OF LGM) AND THE TRUSTEE DEFENDANTS (AS CONTROL
PERSONS OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISER DEFENDANTS) FOR VIOLATION OF

'SECTION 48(A) OF THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT BY THE CLASS AND
: DERIVATIVELY ON BEHALF OF THE EATON VYANCE FUNDS

114. - Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as 'iffully
set forth herein. o | |

115.  This Count is brought pursuant to Section 48(a) of the Investment Company Act
against Eaton Vance, EV and EVM as control persons of EVD; Eaton Vance and EV as control
persons of EVM and BMR; LGML as a conirol person of LGM; and the Trustee Defendanié as
control persons of the Investrﬁent Adviser Défendants, who caused EVD and th¢ Investment
Adviser Defendants to coﬁmit the violations of the Investment Cdmpany Act ailegcd hérein. It
is appropriate to treat these defendants as a group for pleading purposes and to pfesume that the
misconduct complained of herein are the collective actions of Eaton Vance, EV, EVM, BMR,

LGML and the Trustee Defendants.
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116. EVDis ll‘iablle under Section 36(b) of the Investment Company Act to the Eaton
Vance Funds as set'for‘th herein.

117. | The Investment Adviser Defendants are liable under Section 34(b) of the
Investment Comi)any A;ct to the Class and under Section 36(b) of the Investment Company Act
to the Eaton Vance Funds as set forth herein. | |

118. Each of Eaton Van‘ce, EV, EVM, BMR, LGML and the Trustee Defendants were _
» ffcontro] persohs” of EVD and the Investment Adviser Defendants and caused the.violations

cvomp]ain'ed of herein. By virtue of their positions of operational cohjcljol and/or authority 6ver
tﬁe Investment Adviser Defendgn’(s,' Eaton Véﬁce, EV, EVM; BMR, LGML and the Trﬁstee
Defendants directly an‘d'indirectly, had the power and authority, and exercised the same, to cause
| EVD and the Inv}estmen't’Advise‘r Defendants to engage in the wroﬁgful conduct c;omplained of |
herein. | | | |

119. | Pursuant to Section 48(a) oft‘he Investment Company Act, by reason of the
fdregoing, Eaton Vanbé, EV, EVM, BMR, LGML and the Trustee D‘efendants arellia'ble ‘to_
plaintiffs to the same ex_tent as afe EVD and the Investment Adviser Defendants for their primary
violations of Sections 34(b) and 36(b) df the Investment Corﬁpany Act. |

120. * By virtue of the foregoing, The Eaton Vance Funds, plaintiffs and tﬁe 6th¢r Class
members are entitled to damages against Eaton Vance, EV, EVM, BMR, LGM‘Lb and the Trustee

Defendants.
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INVESTMENT ADVISER ACT CLAIMS
COUNT IV '

AGAINST THE INVESTMENT ADVISER DEFENDANTS UNDER
'SECTION 215 OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT FOR VIOLATIONS

. OF SECTION 206 OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT '

DERIVATIVELY ON BEHALF OF THE EATON VANCE FUNDS

121.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and eifery allegation contained above as if fully
set foﬁh herein. | ' o |

122.  This Count_is based upéﬁ Section 215 of the Investment Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C..
§80b-1 5. | |

123. The Investment Advisér Defendant‘vs served as “investment adviseré” to the Eaton
Vance Funds and other members of the Class pursuant to the Investment Advisers Act.

124.  As fiduciaries pursuant to the Investment Advisers Act, the Investment Adviser
Deféndants were required to serve the Eaton Vance Funds in a manner in accordance with the '
federal fiduciary standards set forth in Section 206 of the Investment Advisers A‘ct, 15 U.S.C.
§80b-6,' governing the conduct of investment advisers.

125.  Dunng the Class Period, the Investment Adviser Defendants bfeached their
fiduciary duties to the Eaton Vanée Funds by engaging in a deceptive contrivance, scheme,

‘ practiée and course of cc'mduct pursuant to which they knowingly and/or recklessly engagéd in
acts, transactions, practices and éourses of businéss which operated:as a fraud upon the Eaton
Vance Funds. As dctai]ed above, the Investment Adviser Defendants skimmed money from the
Eaton Vance Funds by charging and coi]ecting fees from the Eaton Vance Funds in violation of
the Investment Company Act and the Investment Advisers Act. The purpose and effect of gaid
scheme, practice and course of conduct was to enrich the Investment Adviser Defendants, .among‘

other defendants, at the expense of the Eaton Vance Funds. The Investment Adviser Def_ehdants
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'. breached their ﬁduciarf duties owed to the Eatqn Vance Funds by éﬁgaging in the aforesaid
traﬁsactions, practices aﬁd courses of business knowingly or recklessly s§ as to constitute a
‘d_eceit and fraud upon the Eatovn Vance Funds.

126. Them?i‘nvés'tment Adviser Defendants are liable as direct participants in the wrongs
: cpmp]ained of herein. The Investment Adviser Defeﬁdants, because of their position of authqr'iiy

and control over the Eaton Vance Funds were able to and did control the fees charged to and

collccted from the Eaton Vance Funds and otherwise control the operations of the Eaton Vance
Fl_mds. |

127.  The Investment Adviser Defendants had a duty to (l)v aisseminate accurate anci
- truthful informatibn with resbp'ect to the Eaton Van;:e Funds; and (2) truthfully and uniformly act
in accordance with their.stated p‘o]icies‘and ﬁduciafy responsibilities to the Eaton Vance Funds.
The Investment Adviser Defendants participated in Ihe wrongdoing complained of herein 1n
order to prévt_ant the Eaton Vance Funds from knowing of the Investment Adviser Defendants’
* breaches of fiduciary duties including: (1) the chafging oftﬁe Eaton Vance Funds and Eaton
Vance Funds investors impfoper Rule 12b-1 marketing fi ees;‘ (2) making imprioper undiscldsed_
payments of Soft Do]la.r:s; (3) making unauthorized use of “directed brokerage” as a marketing
tool; and (4) charging the Eaton Vance Funds for excessch and improper commission payments
to brokers.‘

| 128. Asa resublt of the Investment Advisers’ multiple breaches of their fiduciary duties

owed to the Eaton Vance Funds, the Eaton Vance Funds were damaged.

129.  The Eaton Vance Funds are entitled to rescind their investment advisory

contracts with the Investment Adviser Defendants and recover all fees paid in connection with

~ their enrollment pursuant to such agreements.
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NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW §349 CLAIMS
COUNT V

AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS FOR VIOLATION OF
NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW §349

130.  Plaintiffs repeat and real]égc each and every allegatioh contained above as xf fully
set forth herein.

131 This Coﬁnt is brought pﬂ;suant to Section 349(h) of the New York Génefa] -
Business 'Law against all defendants wh§ misiepresented and omitted to inform Plaintiffs and the
Clasé through uniform materials, and/of participated in the deceptive acts and pracﬁces alleged
of herein, that fees paid by class members would be used for purposes vother than that which ‘th‘ely_ ‘
were actually used. It is appropriate to treat these defendants as a group for pleading purposes
and to présume that the misconduct complained bf herein is the collec‘t‘ivé actions of all
defendants. |

132 Plaintiffs and other members of the Class never knew, nor could they have
known, from reading the Fund brospectusés or otherwise, of the extent to which the Investmém'
Adviser Defendants were using so-called ]2b-1 fees, directed br'okerage (as defined aﬁdv’e) and
- commissions to improperly and iljegally siphon assets from the Funds. |

| 133.  These omisﬁions, mi‘srepresentations and practices alleged herein were unfair and
deceptive when made and were fnade with the intent to, and did, (a)' deceive Plaintiffs and the
members of the Cla“s_s, and (bj induce plaintiffs and members of the Class to purchase ahd hold
the Funds, _in violation of Section 349.
134. By virtue of the foregoing, plaintiffs and other Class Hmembers are entitled to

damages against all Defendants.
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’BRE'A.CH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY CLAIMS
COUNT VI

BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AGAINST THE INVESTMENT ‘
ADVISER DEFENDANTS ON BEHALF OF THE CT.ASS

135.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each of the preceding allegati'onsﬁ as though fully set-
forth lherein.

136. “As advisers to the Eaton Vance Funds, thé Investment Adviser Defe;ﬁdants were‘ |
ﬁduciaﬁes to the plaintiffs and other members of the Class and were required to act with the -
highest obl'igations of goo‘d faith, ]oyalty; fair dealing, due care and caﬁdor.

137.  As set forth abové, ihe Investment Adviser Def‘endants breached their fiduciary
duties to plaintiffs and the Class.

138.  Plaintiffs and the Class have béen spécial]y ipjured as a direct, proXimafc and
foreseeable result of éuch breach on the‘part of tﬁe Investment Adviser Defendants and have
~ suffered substantial darf}ages. |

139. Because the Investment Adviser Defendants acted with reckless and willful
disregard for the rights of plaintiffs and other members of 1he Class, the Investment Adviser |
Defendants are liable fo£ puhitive damages ih an amount to be determined by the jury.‘
| COUNT viI

BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AGAIN'ST THE TRUSTEE
DEFENDANTS ON BEHALF OF THE CLASS

140.  Plaintiffs rep.éat and reallege each of the preceding allegations as though fully set
forth herein.
"~ 141.  As Eaton Vance Funds trustees, the Trustee Defendants had a ﬁduciary duty to
' the Eaton Vance Funds and Eaton Vance Funds investors to supervise and monitor the

Investment Adviser Defendants.
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142.  The Trustee Defendantsf 'breached their fiduciary dutieé by reason olf the acts -
alleged ‘_herein, including their knowiné or réckless failure to prevent the Investment Adviser
Defendants from (1) charging the Eaton Vanée Funds and Eaton Vance Funds inﬁestors'
improper Ru?le 12b;l marketing fees; (2‘) making improper undisclosed payfnents éf Soft Do]lars;
3 making ur_lauthorizeci use of “directed brokcrage” as a marketing tool; and (4) charging the
Eaton Vance Funds for exc‘essive and igpproper commission paymeht's to brokers. -

‘ 143. Plaintiffs and the Class.have been specially injured as a direct, proximate and
foreseeable result of such breach on the'part‘o.f the Trustee Defendants and have éu’ffered ,
substantial damages. |

144.  Because the Investment Adviser Defendants acted with réckleSs and willful
disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs and other members of the Class, the Trustee Defendants are
liable for punitive damages in an amount 1o be determined by the j‘ury'.

| | COUNT VIII

AIDING AND ABETTING A BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AGAINST
ALL DEFENDANTS ON BEHALF OF THE CLASS ‘

145.  Plaintiffs repeat and feallegé each oft_he preceding allegations as thoug_ﬁ fully set
forth herein. o -
146.  Atall reIeQant times herein, the brokeraéeé that sold Eaton Vance Funds had
| fiduciary duties of loyalty to tvhei‘r clients, _in(:luding plaintiffs and other members éf the Claés.
1.47. . The Defendan{s knew or should have known that the brokerages had 1he§e ‘
ﬁduciary duties. | | |
148. By accepting improper Rule 12b-v1 fees, Soft Dollars and excessivé commissions

in exchange for aggressively pushing Eaton Vance Funds, and by fai]irig to disclose the reéeipt
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of such fees, the bfokerage§ breached their fiduciary duties to plaintiffs and the other members of
the Class.

149.  The defendants possessed actual or constructive knowledge thaf the brdkerages
were breaching thei; ﬁduciaxy duties, but nonetheless. perpetfated the scheme alleged herein.

150. ]jefendants’ actions, as described in this complaint, were a substantial faétor in
causing the losses suffered by }Slaintiffs and the other members of the Class. By participating in
the bro'kerages" breach’es of fiduciary duties, defeﬁdams are liable therefor. |

| 151. Asa difeci, proximate and foreseeable result of defendants’ knowing participation
iﬁ the brokerages’ breaches of ﬁduciary duties, plaintiffs and the Class have suffered damages.

152. Bécaus‘é 'defendants acted with reckless and willful disregard fqr the rights of

plaintiffs and other members of the Class, defendants are liable for punitive damages in an
amount to be determined by the jury. |

UNJUST ENRICHMENT CLAIMS

COUNT IX

AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS FOR UNJUST ENRICHMENT
' ON BEHALF OF THE CLASS

153. Plaintiffs repeat aﬁd reallege each of the preceding allegations as though fully set -
forth herein.
| 154. Defendants have benefited from their un]awﬁll acts through the excessive and
improper fees they charged and received from plaintiffs and the‘ other members of the Class. It |
would be inequitable for defendénts to be permitted to retain the béneﬁt of these overpayments, .
which were confened by plaintiffs and the other members of the Class and retained by

' defendants.
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P];;AYER FOR RELIEF
| WHEREFORE, pléintiffs pray for relfef and judgment, as follows:

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action and certifying plaintiffs as the
Class repr'esentativ'es and-blaintiffs’_ .cm\msel as Class Counsel as p;lrsuant to Rule 23 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; -

B.  Awarding ébmpensator-y damages in favor of plaintiffs and the other Class _ ‘
members against all defcﬁdants, jointly and severally, for all damages sus’tai'ned asa reéult'df
defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount io_bé broven at trial, inclpding irﬁerest t‘hereon;

C. - Awarding punitive damages in favor of ‘p]aintif‘fs and the other Class members
against all defendants, jointly ahd severally, for all damages sustained as a re.sult of deféndanfs’
Wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at tn'al;'ing:]uding interest thereon;

D. Awarding the‘ Eaton Vance Fuhds rescissioﬁ 6f their c‘ontracts with the _Inveétment |
Adviser Defendants, iﬁc]uding recovery of all fees which would otherwise apply, and recovery -
of all fees paid to the Investment Adviser Defendaﬁts; |

E. Ordering an accounting of all Eaton Vance Fund related fees, commissions, and

Soft Dollar payments;
F. Ordering restitution of all uh]awfully or discriminatorily-obtained fees and charges;
G. Awarding such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper,

including any extraordinary equitable and/or injunctive relief as pefmitted by Jaw or equity to
attach, impound or otherwise restrict the defendants’ assets to assure that plaintiffs and the Class
have an effective remedy; |

H. Awarding vplairﬁiffs and the Class their reasonable _cc;sts and éxpenSes incurred in
this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and |

I. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
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Dated:

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiffs hereby demand:a trial by jury.

June 9, 2004

MILBERG WEISS BERSHAD

& SCHULMANLLP
By /fZ /%zu_/

Stevefi G. Schulnian (SS —2561)
Janine L. Pollack (P -0178)
Kim E. Levy (KL —6996)
Michael R. Reese (MR — 3183)
One Pennsylvania Plaza

New York, New York 10119
(212) 594-5300 -

Plaintiffs’ Lead Counsel

MURRAY, FRANK & SAILER, LLP
Brian P. Murray (BM-9954)

Eric J. Belfi (EB - 8895)

275 Madison Avenue - Suite 801

New York, New York 10016

(212) 682-1818"

~ WEISS & YOURMAN

Joseph H. Weiss (JW — 4534)
Richard A. Acocelli (RA — 2029)

551 Fifth Avenue

New York, New York 10176
(212) 682-3025

SCHIFFRIN & BARROWAY, LLP
Marc A. Topaz

Robert B. Weiser

Three Bala Plaza East - Suite 400
Bala Cynwyd, Pennsy]vama 19004
(610) 667-7706
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DAVID B. KAHN & ASSOCIATES LTD
David B. Kahn

Mark King

One Northfield Plaza, Suite 100

Northfield, Ilinois 60093

(847) 501-5083

Plaintiffs’ Executive Committee

FRUCHTER & TWERSKY
Jack G. Fruchter (JGF - 8435)
One Pennsylvania Plaza

Suite 1910

New York, New York 10119
(212) 279-5050 .

STULL STULL & BRODY
Jules Brody (JB -~ 9151)
Aaron Brody (AB — 5850)
Tzivia Brody (TB — 7268)

‘6 East 45th Street

New York, New York 10017
(212) 687-7230

LAW OFFICES OF CHARLES J. PIVEN, P.A.
Charles J. Piven

The World Trade Center - Baltimore

Suite 2525

" 40] East Pratt Street .

.Baltimore, Maryland 21202

(410) 332-0030

"GLANCY BINKOW & GOLDBERG LLP
Michael M. Goldberg '

1801 Avenue of the Stars - Suite 311

Los Angeles, California 90067

(310) 201-9150

WECHSLER HARWOOD LLP
Robert Ira Harwood

Samuel K. Rosen

488 Madison Avenue, 8th Floor
New York, New York 10022
(212) 935-7400

Additional Plaintiffs’ Counsel
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EXHIBIT A
THE EATON VANCE FUNDS

Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Growth Fund 1.2

Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Growth Fund 1.1
Eaton Vance Tax:Managed Growth Fund 1.0
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Dividend Income Fund
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Equity Asset Allocation Fund
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed International Growth Fund
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Mid-Cap Core Fund |
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Multi-Cap Opportunity Fund
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Small-Cap Growth Fund 1.2
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Small-Cap Growth Fund 1.1
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Small-Cap Value Fund
Eaton Vance Tax-Managed Value Fund
Eaton Vance Balanced Fund
Eaton Vance Growth Fund
Eaton Vance Large-Cap Core Fund
- Eaton Vance Atjanta Cap Large-Cap Growth Fund
Eaton Vance Large-Cap Value Fund

Eaton Vance Atlanta-Cap Small-Cap Fund

Eaton Vance Small-Cap Growth Fund .

Eaton Vance Small-Cap Value Fund

Eaton Vance Special Equities Fund

Eaton Vance Utilities Fund

"Eaton Vance Asian Small Companies Fund

Eaton Vance Emerging Markets Fund

Eaton Vance Greater China Growth Fund

Eaton Vance Greater India Fund

Eaton Vance Global Growth Fund ,

Eaton Vance Worldwide Health Science Fund

Eaton Vance Advisers Senior Floating-Rate Fund
- Eaton Vance Atlanta Capital Intermediate Bond Fund
Eaton Vance Classic Senior Floating-Rate Fund

Eaton Vance Floating-Rate Fund

Eaton Vance Floating-Rate High Income Fund

‘Eaton Vance Government Obligations Fund

Eaton Vance High Income Fund

Eaton Vance Income Fund of Boston

Eaton Vance Institutional Senior Floating-Rate Fund
Eaton Vance Low Duration Fund

Eaton Vance Prime Rate Reserves

Eaton Vance Strategic Income Fund ‘

‘Eaton Vance High Yield Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Municipal Bond Fund

Eaton Vance National Limited Maturity Municipals Fund -

Eaton Vance National Municipals Fund
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Eaton Vance Alabama Municipals Fund’

Eaton Vance Arizona Municipals Fund_

Eaton Vance Arkansas Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance California Limited Maturity Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance California Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Colorado Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Connecticut Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Florida Insured Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Florida Limited Maturity Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance Florida Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Georgia Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Hawaii Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Kansas Municipals Fund. |

Eaton Vance Kentucky Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Louisiana Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Maryland Municipals Fund.

Eaton Vance Massachusetts Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Massachusetts Limited Maturity Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance Michigan Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Minnesota Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Mississippi Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Missouri Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance New Jersey Limited Maturity Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance New Jersey Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance New York Limited Maturity Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance New York Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance North Carolina Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Ohio Limited Maturity Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance Ohio Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Oregon Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Pennsylvania Limited Maturity Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance Pennsylvania Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Rhode Island Municipals Fund -

“Eaton Vance South Carolina Municipals Fund

Eaton Vance Tennessee Municipals Fund -
Eaton Vance Virginia Municipals Fund
Eaton Vance West Virginia Municipals Fund
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- -CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

1 Michael R. Reese, do hereby certify that, on June 9, 2004, I caused a true and
correct copy of thg Gonwlidatéfi Amended Complaint to be served by Federal Express upon the

following:

MURRAY, FRANK & SAILER LLP
Marvin L. Frank

Brian P. Murray

Eric J. Belfi

275 Madison Avenue

34th Floor ‘

New York, NY 10016:1101

(212) 682-1818

WEISS & YOURMAN
Joseph H. Weiss
: o - ~ - Richard A. Acocelli
- 551 Fifth Avenue
' New York, NY 10176
(212) 682-3025

SCHIFFRIN & BARROWAY, LLP
Marc A. Topaz
‘Richard A. Maniskas

Robert B. Weiser

Three Bala Plaza East

Suite 400

Bala Cynwyd, PA 15004

(610) 667-7706

DAVID B. KAHN & ASSOCIATES, LTD.
David B. Kahn B

Mark E. King

One Northfield Plaza, Suite 100

Northfield, IL 6009

(847) 501-5083



FRUCHTER & TWERSKY
Jack G. Fruchter

- One Pennsylvania Plaza

Suite 1910

New York, NY 10119

(212) 279-5050

LAW OFFICES OF CHARLES J. PIVEN, P.A.
Charles J. Piven

Marshall N. Perkins .

The World Trade Center — Baltimore

Suite 2525

401 East Pratt Street

Baltimore, MD 21202

(410) 332-0030

STULL STULL & BRODY
Jules Brody

Aaron Brody

Tzivia Brody

6 East 45th Street

New York, NY 10017

(212) 687-7230

. GLANCY BINKOW & GOLDBERG LLP
Michael M. Goldberg

1801 Ave. of the Stars

Suite 311

Los Angeles, CA 90067

(310) 201-9150

WECHSLER HARWOOD LLP
Robert 1. Harwood

Samuel K. Rosen

488 Madison Avenue, 8th Floor
‘New York , NY 10022

(212) 935-7400



KIRKPATRICK & LOCKHART LLP
Loren Schechter
David Pollok
599 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY 10022-6030
(212) 536-3900

KIRKPATRICK & LOCKHART LLP
Charles Lee Eisen

Jeffrey B. Maletta

Nicholas G. Terris

1800 Massachusetts Avenue, N.'W.

2nd Floor

Washington, DC 20036-1800

(202) 778-9000

GOODWIN PROCTERLLP
Adam B. Michaels

599 Lexington Avenue

New York, NY 10022

(212) 813-8800°

GOODWIN PROCTER LLP
James S. Dittmar

Stuart M. Glass (SG- 6056)
Exchange Place ‘

Boston, MA 02109-2881
(617) 570-1000

YURKO & SALVESEN, P.C.
Sanford F. Remz '
One Washington Mall, 1 1th Floor
Boston, MA 02108-2603
(617).723-6900 '

SHEARMAN & STERLING LLP
Tai H. Park

Adam S. Hakki

Piret Loone

599 Lexington Avenue

New York, NY 10022

Tl e

Michael R.Keese




